
 

 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

Wednesday, 25 June 2014  

 

Meeting time: 

09.00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Sarah Beasley 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8032 

CELG.committee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

Private pre-meeting (09.00-09.15) 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2 Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill - Evidence Session 6:  Darren Millar 

AM (09.15-10.30) (Pages 1 - 25)  

Darren Millar AM  

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: item 4   

4 Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - discussion of evidence 

session 6 (10.30 - 10.45)  

Break (10.45 - 11.00) 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

5 General  Scrutiny Session: Minister for Local Government and 

Government Business (11.00-12.30) (Pages 26 - 59)  

Lesley Griffiths AM, Minister for Local Government and Government Business 

Debra Carter, Deputy Director, Local Government Finance and Performance 

Alyson Francis, Deputy Director of Operations  

6 Papers to note  (Pages 60 - 94) 

7 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the remainder of the meeting   

8 General scrutiny session: Minister for Local Government and 

Government Business - discussion of evidence (12.30 - 12.40)  



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 18

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 26

Agenda Item 5 By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee  

CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 2 
 
Communities, Equalities and Local Government Committee 
 
Evidence Paper – 25 June 2014 
 
Introduction 
 
1. My portfolio covers a broad range of policy responsibilities and is responsible for 

a range of delivery programmes.  Working with key stakeholders, across the 
public, private and Third Sectors, the portfolio funds and oversees a range of 
services targeted at individuals and communities across Wales.  

 
2. My focus, as set out in the Programme for Government, is to support the delivery 

of effective and efficient public services which meet the needs of people in 
Wales.  My policies and programmes underpin both this aim and the underlying 
commitments set out within the Programme for Government.  Good progress is 
being made, with 19 of the 46 commitments falling to the portfolio already met, 
including our „Five for a Fairer Future‟ pledge to fund 500 Community Support 
Officers.  

 
3. Within my portfolio, the majority of funding is directed towards public services 

through Local Authorities.   This portfolio provides the majority of Welsh 
Government funding to Local Authorities through the Local Government 
Settlement. This is unhypothecated funding which reflects the position of Local 
Authorities as an independent, democratically elected tier of Government.  
However, I am working in partnership with Local Authorities across Wales, to 
ensure they have the corporate capacity and capability needed to manage the 
delivery of effective public services which provide value for money.      

 

4. In a similar way, each of my Ministerial colleagues works directly with Local 
Authorities to develop their own policy agendas and implement programmes. 

 
Funding  
 

 2013-14 
(Supplementary Budget) 

£000 

2014-15 
(Final Budget) 

£000 

   

Revenue 4,705,164 4,568,893 

Capital 22,920 22,920 

   

TOTAL DEL 4,728,084 4,591,813 

   

 
5. The budget for the Local Government portfolio in 2014-15 includes: 
 

 £ 4,271m unhypothecated funding through the Revenue Support Grant; 

Pack Page 43



 £ 140m for Police General Revenue Funding 

 £ 35m for the Intermediate Care Fund; 

 £ 3.4m to support Transformation and Reform; 

 £ £36m for Local Government Improvement and Building Local Democracy; 

 £ 16.8m for Community Support Officers; 

 £ 4m revenue and £0.3m capital for violence against women and domestic abuse 
and for policies on anti-slavery and human trafficking; 

 £ 7.2m revenue and £2.3m capital for Fire and Rescue Services and Community 
Fire Safety in Wales; and 

 £ 5.2m towards our policies on preventing youth offending.  
 
Priorities for Wales 
 
6. All of the programmes and policies being taken forward through this portfolio 

support the Welsh Government priorities set out in the Programme for 
Government: 

 
Local Authority Funding  
 
7. The direct Local Authority workforce is approximately 160,000 people. Around 

three-quarters of Local Government expenditure goes on salaries and 
employment costs.  Much of this is reinvested in local communities and 
businesses.  I am working with Local Authorities to promote the adoption of the 
Living Wage and to reduce the use of zero-hour contracts.  This work is being 
taken forward through the Workforce Partnership Council, bringing together 
public sector employers and recognised Trades Unions. I have also recently 
issued a revised Code of Practice on Workforce Matters, also known as the two-
tier code.   

 
8. Employees of Local Authorities undertake a wide range of responsibilities, funded 

through a mix of unhypothecated funding, specific grants, local taxation and other 
income.  For 2014-15, the Welsh Government has allocated £4.4 billion through 
the Local Government Settlement. This funding comprises £4.264 billion in 
unhypothecated revenue funding and £143 million in General Capital Funding.  In 
addition to this, Local Authorities receive over £700 million in Welsh Government 
specific grants from individual Ministerial portfolios. 

 
9. Once supplied through the Local Government Settlement, the allocation of 

funding is a matter for individual Local Authorities.  Deciding on the use of the 
total funding available to an Authority is, rightly, one of the key roles and 
responsibilities of local Councillors.  They must ensure the views of their 
electorates are properly reflected and balanced with local service needs and 
pressures.  The freedom for Authorities to set their own budgets is an important 
part of the Settlement process, providing them with flexibility to meet local 
pressures and requirements.  
 

10. I want to increase this flexibility where possible, by moving funding from specific 
grants, which bring with them specific administrative burdens, into the Local 
Government Settlement and encouraging the amalgamation of grants.  

Pack Page 44



Dehypothecation of grant funding can provide a positive impact on the provision 
of services, as it releases funding previously spent on administering the grant.  

 
11. The Welsh Government‟s record on dehypothecation is a good one.  Only around 

15% of revenue funding provided to Local Government by the Welsh Government 
is earmarked for specific purposes.  During this Assembly term, £180m of funding 
previously provided as specific grants has been released into the Revenue 
Support Grant.  On the basis of Wales Audit Office estimates for the cost of 
administering grants, this suggests between £9m and £18m previously absorbed 
in management overheads is now available for spend on public services each 
year.  In addition, we have provided over £230m a year to meet new 
responsibilities as unhypothecated funding rather than by creating new specific 
grants.  Again, this has avoided as much as £20 million of unnecessary 
administrative costs each year.   

 
12. This is a continuing process. It is important we look at all avenues to provide 

increased flexibilities to Local Government. I have impressed upon Local 
Government it must be able to provide Welsh Ministers with assurances as to the 
delivery of our priorities and the improvement of services, if increased flexibility is 
to be achieved. 

 
13. The current funding challenges are likely to last well into the future.  In recent 

years, we have taken steps to protect Local Government from the worst of the 
cuts and to help them prepare for more challenging times.  However, given the 
continued pressures on services and budgets, we must continue to look for more 
transformational approaches to service delivery. 

 
Budget-setting and public engagement 
 
14. I recently conducted an exercise to gather information from Authorities about their 

approach to public engagement, consultation and local scrutiny during the 
budget-setting process for 2014-15. I have considered this information carefully, 
with a view to highlighting good practice with Local Government through the 
Partnership Council for Wales and its sub groups. I also plan to write to 
Ministerial colleagues with a summary of my findings. 

 
15. I have been clear with Council Leaders, the pressures on budgets mean it is 

more important than ever to engage residents in decisions about how local 
resources are prioritised and spent and, in particular, in difficult decisions about 
where any cuts are made.  More importantly, effective engagement can yield 
innovative solutions for dealing with budget reductions and improve local 
democracy. 

 
16. The emerging information from my exercise is a mixed picture across Wales, with 

some very good examples coming forward of effective engagement with 
residents, employees, delivery partners and the Third Sector. However, I am 
clear public engagement should not just be a „tick-box‟ exercise. There is some 
evidence of consultation outcomes being properly assessed and used to inform 
internal decision making through Cabinet meetings, workshops and Scrutiny 

Pack Page 45



Committees. Some Authorities published extensive analysis of the consultation 
outcomes for respondents to see. 

 
17. Whilst I do not underestimate the task undertaken by Authorities in setting a 

budget, there are many approaches to engaging communities in budget 
considerations. It is clear some Authorities could do more to engage with their 
communities. I recognise the role of local democracy in carrying out key duties 
such as budget-setting, however, it is important for communities to be and feel 
included in the process and for a two-way dialogue to become second nature. 

 

18. Given the financial constraints will not improve in the near future, Authorities 
need to start thinking now about how, when and who they will consult to ensure 
final decisions are robust and fully informed.   

 
Regional Collaboration Fund 
 
19. I am taking forward plans to assess improvements and outcomes from the 

Regional Collaboration Fund on a similar model to the one adopted for the ESF 
Local Service Board (ESF-LSB) project.  

 
20. There will also be an overarching independent evaluation of the Regional 

Collaboration Fund, which will examine its outcomes and identify lessons and 
considerations for future policy and practice around collaboration.  This 
evaluation is currently being commissioned and a contract should be awarded 
within the next two months. 

 
Local Taxation – Non Domestic Rates 
 
21. Non Domestic Rates (NDR) are the mechanism for raising revenue for Local 

Government services from non-domestic property owners and occupiers.  
Although often known as business rates, they apply to all forms of non-domestic 
property not just businesses.  This includes charities, non-profit making 
organisations and public sector property.  There are selected exempt categories 
and a number of relief schemes. 

 
22. NDR bills are calculated using two variables: 
 

 the Rateable Value of a property, set by the Valuation Office Agency; and 

 the NDR Multiplier which is set on an annual basis by the Welsh Government and 
is the same for all premises.   

 
23. For 2014-15, the Welsh Government has capped the increase in the Multiplier at 

2%.  
 
24. Following the recommendation in the first report of the Commission on Devolution 

in Wales, work is in hand to deliver full devolution of NDR to Wales as part of the 
Financial Reform Programme.  The NDR Pool generates around £1 billion to fund 
Local Government services in Wales.  This is a major step forward in providing 
Wales with the tools to take devolution further.     

 

Pack Page 46



25. The Small Business Rate Relief Scheme has been operating for a number of 
years and has been extended to continue throughout 2014-15.  We also operate 
a number of other relief schemes designed to help businesses across Wales 
such as the Retail Relief Scheme.  

 
Local Taxation – Council Tax 
 
26. Council Tax is the mechanism for raising revenue for Local Government services 

from domestic properties. 
 
27. Council Tax in Wales increased by 4.1% in 2014-15, compared with a 3.2% 

increase in 2013-14.  This includes Police and Community Council precepts.  
Despite the increases, the average Band D bill in Wales remains around £190 
lower than in England.  

 
28. Very early on in the budget-setting process, I engaged with Council Leaders and 

Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) to make clear my expectations on 
Council Tax. I worked closely with my officials to assess the increases as they 
emerged across Wales.  Setting Council Tax is a key duty of Local Authorities 
and PCCs. They need to act responsibly in maintaining vital services whilst 
limiting the financial burden on residents. They are directly accountable to their 
local electorates and I have allowed them the freedom to make good decisions.   

 
29. All Local Authorities have faced funding reductions in 2014-15 and have had to 

make difficult decisions throughout the budget-setting process.  Increasing 
Council Tax is just one of a range of tools available to Authorities in setting a 
balanced budget.  The Welsh Government channels as much of the available 
funding as possible into the core funding settlement. We do not impose one-size-
fits-all limits or require costly local referenda to justify local Councils‟ tax 
increases.  The evidence shows each year more Authorities in England are 
rejecting the UK Government‟s offer of a council tax freeze grant, in favour of 
being able to set their own Council Tax.  Council Tax levels in England continue 
to rise year on year. 

 
30. The Housing Bill contains provisions in relation to Council Tax which will give 

Local Authorities discretionary powers to charge up to, but no more than, an 
additional 100% of the standard Council Tax charge (ie. a 100% premium) on: 

 

 Properties which are empty (unoccupied and substantially unfurnished) for at 
least one year; and 

 Second homes (those which are not a person‟s sole or main residence and which 
are substantially furnished). 

 
31. These provisions are intended to provide Local Authorities with additional tools to 

address local housing pressures and to counter the effects of factors which affect 
local housing supply.  Local Authorities applying the additional Council Tax 
charge on empty properties and/or second homes will be encouraged to use any 
additional revenue raised to improve and increase local housing supply and 
service provision. 

 

Pack Page 47



32. If the Bill gains Royal Assent, I will consult on possible exemptions to these 
additional Council Tax charges. This will inform Regulations which I will 
subsequently bring forward prescribing categories of dwelling in relation to which 
additional Council Tax cannot be charged.  These categories may be related to 
characteristics of the building or the circumstances of the person liable to the 
charge. I will also issue guidance to which Local Authorities must have regard 
when levying an additional Council Tax charge.  This is likely to include 
requirements for the reporting of information. 

 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
 
33. Following the UK Government‟s decision to abolish Council Tax Benefit, the 

Welsh Government introduced Council Tax Reduction Schemes (CTRS) for 
2013-14 which maintained entitlements for eligible households. This was 
supported by an additional £22 million to supplement the £222 million transferred 
from the UK Government, making a total of £244 million. This approach has been 
maintained in 2014-15, with Local Government needing to take account of the 
funding implications of any additional shortfall which arises from local decisions 
on Council Tax levels. As a result, support has been provided to almost 320,000 
households in meeting their Council Tax liability and 70% of these will continue to 
pay no Council Tax at all. 

 
34. However, given the estimated increases in the cost of maintaining this protection, 

Ministers agreed in June 2013 to a review to develop options and make 
recommendations for an equitable and sustainable scheme, which provides the 
maximum possible protection for low income households. A detailed overview of 
this Review is provided as an Annexe to this paper. 

 

35. I recently made a Written Statement confirming following the conclusion of the 
Review Welsh Ministers had decided to continue to maintain entitlements to 
CTRS for a further two years. 

 
Local Authority Performance and Scrutiny 
 
36. In setting budgets, Local Authorities in Wales have previously delivered against 

Outcome Agreements.  Over the lifetime of Outcome Agreements, all Local 
Authorities improved their approach to delivering identified outcomes. A new 
approach has been developed for the next cycle which links the outcomes to 
Programme for Government commitments. All Local Authorities in Wales 
submitted their Successor Outcome Agreements by 31 May 2014 and 
assessments of performance against outcomes will be undertaken.   

 
37. In addition to driving Local Authority performance, I am also working to improve 

scrutiny of Local Authorities at both a local and national level. Effective scrutiny is 
linked to good quality budget decisions.  Enhanced support has been provided to 
Local Authority Councillors to help them undertake their roles as part of the work 
in implementing the Local Government Measure 2011.    

 
38. The Scrutiny Development Programme, the first phase of which commenced in 

September 2012 and will conclude in March 2015, is the focus for strengthening 

Pack Page 48



scrutiny arrangements in Local Government. Evidence from this work, the Wales 
Audit Office study on local scrutiny, the Report of the Commission on Public 
Service Governance and Delivery and evaluations of the cabinet system and the 
Local Government Measure 2011, will shape the next phase of this work. 

 
39. The Centre for Public Scrutiny, supported by resources from the Welsh 

Government, is delivering a bespoke programme of work in support of scrutiny in 
Wales. In a short period of time, it has established itself as the first port of call for 
all scrutiny support and has been integral to the development of the 
Characteristics of Effective Scrutiny, and in support of the academically 
accredited training programme for scrutiny officers available throughout Wales. 

 
40. On 26 June, I will speak at an event to launch a guide to effective budget 

scrutiny, developed by the Centre for Public Scrutiny and Grant Thornton.  This 
guide will offer Local Authorities practical advice on how best to involve service 
users in difficult budget decisions.                 

 
Democracy 
 
41. Implementation of the Local Government (Democracy) Wales Act 2013 is under 

way and scheduled for completion by the spring of 2015 when the final provisions 
relating to Town and Community Council Websites will be implemented.  This 
provides adequate preparation time for these Councils. I am currently consulting 
on guidance on this matter:  

 
(http://wales.gov.uk/consultations/localgovernment/access-to-information-town-
councils/?lang=en)  

 
42. I am also working towards implementation of the provisions in the Act relating to 

the electronic publication of registers of members‟ interests for all Local 
Authorities included in the Act. 

 
43. In terms of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011, the first tranche of 

annual reports prepared by Councillors for their electorates were issued in 
September 2013, following the May 2012 Local Government Elections. I have 
announced the next set of Local Government elections will take place in May 
2017 for both Principal Councils and Town and Community Councils. 

 
44. Last Autumn, I established an Expert Group on Local Government Diversity. 

Chaired by Professor Laura McAllister, members were Joy Kent, Dr Declan Hall 
and Naomi Alleyne.  The Group was established to review the Candidates‟ 
survey results from the 2012 Local Government Elections. 

 
45. The key recommendations from the Expert Group‟s report “On Balance: 

Diversifying Democracy in Local Government” are:  
 

 To improve the future surveys by separating the data for County and Community 
Councils and making the survey available on line; 

 Political parties to make use of mentoring schemes for potential candidates; 

Pack Page 49

http://wales.gov.uk/consultations/localgovernment/access-to-information-town-councils/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/consultations/localgovernment/access-to-information-town-councils/?lang=en


 The Welsh Government and stakeholders should co-ordinate a campaign prior to 
the local elections to provide information about Local Government and becoming 
a Councillor; and 

 In collaboration with the WLGA, the Welsh Government should establish a 
mentoring / shadowing scheme.   
 

46. In addition, I am establishing a network of diversity champions. I wrote to all Local 
Authorities to encourage them to nominate a representative to be the diversity 
champion. To date 17 Local Authorities have nominated Councillors to act as 
diversity champions.   
 

47. The role of the local champions will be: 
 

 To be involved in media campaigns – interviews / news articles on what 
motivated them to be Councillors, difficulties they faced,; what improvements 
would make the role easier;  

 Use their experience as Councillors to promote the role;   

 social media – twitter feeds to promote interest in the report and the plenary 
debate and beyond; 

 promote the Expert Group‟s recommendations relating to Local Government -  for 
Councillors to visit secondary schools, Local Authorities to have mentors and 
member champions, engagement with under represented groups, is taken 
forward by Local Authorities; 

 be a driving force for a diverse democracy in Local Government at the next 
elections; and 

 through the use of such things as social media, the group could also be involved 
in stimulating interest in the report in advance of its launch, ahead of the plenary 
debate on the 18 March and beyond.  
 

48. A Steering Group, including representatives from political parties, is now taking 
forward the Action Plan I published in response to the Report. 

 
Local Service Boards and Single Integrated Plans 
 
49. All Local Service Boards now have single integrated plans in place and are 

working to streamline their local partnership structures.  The Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Bill, to be introduced into the National Assembly next month 
will put both LSBs and SIPs on a single statutory basis and better align local and 
national strategic planning through the National Goals set out in the Bill. 

 
50. Until the Bill is implemented, single integrated planning is based on provisions in 

the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 relating to community planning.  To 
ensure continuity of existing arrangements, I am, following consultation, making 
an Order to include Police and Crime Commissioners as community planning 
partners. 

 
Community Safety 
 
51. The Programme for Government sets out our commitment to ending violence 

against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence in Wales. This month I will 

Pack Page 50



be bringing forward legislation to achieve this aim by improving the public sector 
response in Wales to such violence and abuse.  The Bill will provide a strategic 
focus on these issues and ensure consistent consideration of preventive, 
protective and supportive mechanisms in the delivery of services.   

 
52. Through our 10,000 Safer Lives initiative, over 7,000 victims consider themselves 

to be safer, or to feel safer, from 2011-2012 to 2013-14, a significant 
achievement in line with the direction of our policies and strategies.  In addition to 
this all leading public service delivery organisations in Wales have now 
implemented or reviewed workplace policies on violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.   
 

53. I am also working to raise awareness of the issues around Female Genital 
Mutilation.  We are leading the way in Wales in tackling the continuing problem of 
slavery in modern society.  In this context, I continue to work with the UK 
Government on their Modern Slavery Bill.   

 
54. Wales is the first country in the UK to appoint an Anti-Slavery Coordinator who 

works closely with a range of different organisations to raise awareness and 
coordinate joint activities to tackle slavery. No other UK Administration has taken 
this action until now with the proposed appointment of an Anti-Slavery 
Commissioner by the UK Government. 

 
55. We have made significant strides here in Wales, providing a strategic lead to the 

devolved and non-devolved bodies operating here. Our Anti-Slavery Leadership 
Group provides oversight and direction to this work and our significant 
achievements to date include developing a Survivor Care Pathway to ensure 
consistency of support to survivors across Wales, rolling out approved awareness 
training programmes and achieving all Wales coverage of our Regional Anti-
Slavery Fora. 

 
56. In October 2013, I met the commitment to fund the recruitment of an additional 

500 Community Support Officers (CSOs) across Wales. The CSOs are working 
with local primary schools, providing reassurance to over-60s groups, helping 
local businesses address shoplifting, seizing alcohol and tobacco and 
undertaking house-to-house inquiries for criminal investigations. A contract was 
awarded in March 2013 to evaluate the impact of our investment in the additional 
500 CSOs. This work will conclude in September 2014. 

 
57. I have made £69,000 available in 2013-14 to support additional No Cold Calling 

Zones across Wales. This should create new zones covering over 10,000 homes, 
in addition to the 38,500 already in place. 

 
58. The Youth Crime Prevention Fund (formerly the Safer Communities Fund) 

continues to provide funding to support schemes aimed at diverting young people 
away from crime and anti-social behaviour. The fund moved to a regional 
footprint model from April 2013 and this approach has continued into 2014-2015. 

 
59. I continue to consider the needs of the Armed Forces Community in Wales 

though a specific Wales Expert Group.  In June 2013 the Welsh Government 

Pack Page 51



published a revised Package of Support for this Group.  This identified and 
signposts relevant and specific public service provision for members of the 
Armed Forces Community in Wales, including their families. As key partners in 
this, all 22 Local Authorities in Wales have signed Armed Forces Community 
Covenants. Two multi-sector Armed Forces Champions events have been held 
since November 2013 to encourage partnership working and a joined up 
approach to addressing the specific needs of this community.  

 
60. In April 2012, the Welsh Government published its Fire and Rescue National 

Framework for 2012 onwards. This sets out our expectations of the Fire and 
Rescue Authorities in Wales.  A progress report on the implementation of the 
Framework was issued in July 2013. A review of the currency of the Framework 
will be undertaken during 2014-15. 

 
61. The Welsh Government provides a grant to Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) 

to support community safety activity, including arson reduction and the provision 
of Home Fire Safety Checks (HFSCs).  The Welsh Government has made 
available a total of £3.447 million to the three FRAs in Wales for community fire 
safety initiatives in 2014-15.  The FRAs have a target of 72,000 HFSCs in 2014-
2015. Last year 70,832 targeted HFSCs were completed. 

 
62. Resilience, in the face of emergencies and effective response to them, relies 

upon effective working between partners, including services which are non-
devolved such as the police services.  The First Minister continues to chair 
regular meetings of the Wales Resilience Forum bringing partners together.  

 
63. The emergency planning structure in Wales delivered effective co-ordination of 

the response to the tidal surge and storm events which occurred last winter, as 
well as ensuring continuing public safety for the periods of industrial action taken 
by the Fire Brigades Union. Work is underway, with Local Authorities and other 
partners, to regionalise the delivery of emergency planning services in Wales to 
further embed and support effective joint working.  Considerable work is also 
currently being undertaken to put in place security and resilience arrangements 
around the NATO Summit. The experience we gain from this will not only further 
enhance our ability to host such major events in the future, it will also strengthen 
our resilience capability in general. 

 
64. The Minister for Finance announced on 15 April 2014, the offer of £3million 

“Invest to Save” funding to assist the development of a new Public Service 
Centre, which will merge and co-locate the Control rooms of South and Mid and 
West Wales Fire and Rescue Authorities, with South Wales Police, at their 
Headquarters in Bridgend.  The new centre will achieve an effective collaboration 
between Police and Fire and Rescue Authorities and is intended to lead to safer 
communities and also to secure efficiencies through: 
 

 effective coordination of emergency assistance requests from the public 

 improved Fire and Rescue Service and Police Service capabilities and resilience 

 improved service delivery by focusing on continuous improvement activities 

 developing and delivering command and control protocols to manage risk to blue 
light responders 

Pack Page 52



 provide a platform to develop future communications and mobile data solutions to 
enhance blue light interoperability. 
 

65. The project will deliver effective co-ordination of emergency assistance and is 
forecasting £1million of net annual efficiency savings from 2016 
 

66. Firefighter pensions are devolved to Welsh Ministers under the Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004.  The Welsh Government is committed to collective pension 
arrangements which follow similar approaches to those being taken elsewhere in 
the UK. The Welsh Government has been mindful of the need to maintain a 
degree of parity across UK Schemes and the main membership benefits in the 
Firefighters‟ Pension Scheme 2015, based on the scheme design proposals in 
England are currently subject to consultation, which closes on 4 July. Any 
significant changes to pension policy could mean HM Treasury ending the 
Annually Managed Expenditure funding support of Welsh Fire-fighter Pensions. 
This would leave Welsh Government liable to find any additional costs in the 
future.  
 

67. The Fire Brigades Union (FBU) have consistently outlined their opposition to 
several aspects of the proposed new pensions‟ scheme arrangements. On 16 
May 2013, the FBU issued a Trade Dispute Letter to all UK Ministers, including 
Welsh Ministers, highlighting their concerns. This has unfortunately led to 14 
separate periods of industrial action by FBU members over the past 13 months. I 
have met with the FBU on a number of occasions and all discussions have been 
positive and constructive. In addition, I have corresponded with and met Brandon 
Lewis MP, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State, Department of Communities 
and Local Government to urge him to continue dialogue with the FBU with the 
aim of reaching a negotiated settlement as soon as possible. 

 
Devolved Services Reform 
 
68. The Commission on Public Service Governance and Delivery was announced in 

April 2013 and reported to the First Minister in January 2014.  The Report 
contained 62 recommendations covering a broad range of issues across the 
whole of the public service.  To date, much of the focus has been on the 
recommendations relating to Local Authority structures.  These are set out in just 
four of the recommendations, demonstrating the breadth and scope of issues to 
be considered.   

 
69. A Ministerial Task and Finish Group, led by the First Minister, has been 

established to take forward our programme of devolved service reform, drawing 
on both the findings of the Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery and the Commission on Devolution in Wales.  Delivery of the 
commitments made under the Simpson Compact with Local Authorities will now 
be continued as part of the wider programme of devolved service reform.   

 

70. The Welsh Government will be making a series of announcements before the 
Summer recess relating to the Commission‟s Report.  To pave the way, at the 
recent WLGA Conference, I set out my vision for Local Government in Wales for 
the 21st century.  There are four cornerstones to this vision: 

Pack Page 53



 

 Authorities with strong and effective connections to their communities, 

 Local democracy which reflects the diversity in our communities, 

 Authorities which improve the well-being of people and places and, 

 Good Governance. 
 

71. I also announced the next Local Government elections will be held in May 2017 
on the basis of our existing principal councils.  Town and Community Council 
elections will also be held on this day.  

 
72. This means our existing local political leadership have the certainty there will be 

no programme of mergers in this Assembly term and, as leaders, they must now 
plan for the financial scenario outlined in paragraph 13 as being the basis for next 
year and beyond. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Lesley Griffiths AM 
Minister for Local Government and Government Business 

 
 

Pack Page 54



Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee  

CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 2a 
 
Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
 
25 June 2014 
 
Evidence Paper – Council Tax Support 
 
Background 
 
1. As part of the October 2010 Spending Review, the UK Government announced 

its intention to abolish Council Tax Benefit (CTB) and reduce spending on 
replacement schemes, initially by 10%.  CTB was abolished on 31 March 2013 
and the responsibility for developing replacement schemes was passed to Local 
Authorities in England and taken up by the Welsh and Scottish Governments. 

 
2. The functions were not devolved to the Welsh or Scottish Governments.  Social 

security benefits remain non-devolved and no powers were transferred in relation 
to these.  The UK Government announced it would transfer funding for Council 
Tax Support, net of the 10 per cent initial cut, to the devolved administrations in 
expectation they would develop support schemes which operate within the 
underlying council tax system.  The funding was also moved from AME to DEL, 
meaning future schemes must be delivered within fixed Welsh Government 
budgets.   

 
3. Following the UK Government’s decision to abolish CTB, the Welsh Government 

introduced Council Tax Reduction Schemes (CTRS) for 2013-14 which maintain 
entitlements for eligible households.  This was supported by an additional £22 
million to supplement the £222 million transferred from the UK Government, 
making a total of £244 million.  This approach is being maintained in 2014-15, 
with Local Government having to address the funding implications of any 
additional shortfall, the costs which arise almost entirely as a result of local 
decisions on Council Tax (CT) levels.   

 
CTRS Review 
 
4. The Welsh Government has therefore protected low income and vulnerable 

households from the potential effects of the UK Government’s decision to abolish 
CTB and reduce funding for replacement schemes.  However, given the 
estimated increases in the cost of maintaining this protection, Ministers agreed  in 
June 2013 to a review to develop options and make recommendations for an 
equitable and sustainable scheme, which provides the maximum possible 
protection for low income households.  The preferred solution is to be 
implemented from 2015-16.   

 
Financial context 
 

Pack Page 55



5. The UK Government transfer to the Welsh Budget for CTRS was £222 million in 
2013-14 and in 2014-15.  From 2015-16, there will not be an identifiable 
allocation from the UK Government for CTRS as this will have been absorbed 
within the Welsh Budget.  The Welsh Government’s budget reflects a baseline 
adjustment to the Local Government MEG of £222 million in respect of CTRS for 
2014-15 and 2015-16.  For 2014-15, £244 million (£222 million transfer plus £22 
million from Welsh Government) is being distributed as part of the Revenue 
Support Grant (RSG) to support the delivery of schemes which maintain 
entitlements, with Local Authorities required to take account of any additional 
funding implications.   

 
6. The £244 million is provided to Local Authorities to replace the CT which they 

cannot collect from households who qualify for CTRS.  It forms part of the income 
Local Authorities may spend on local services, ie. it is not ‘spent’ on the schemes 
themselves.  A Local Authority will experience a funding shortfall if there is a gap 
between the funding provided and the amount of CT which it could have raised 
from households who receive a reduction.  As caseloads are declining modestly, 
and the funding provision reflects the amount required at the time the schemes 
were established, such gaps are almost entirely a result of local decisions 
regarding increases in CT.   

 
CTRS in 2013-14 
 
7. In December 2013, I published An Interim Report on Council Tax Reduction 

Schemes in Wales, for the period May to October 2013:   
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/counciltax/council-tax-
support/council-tax-reduction-schemes-in-wales-interim-report/?lang=en 

 

8. The report provided an update on the operation of CTRS in Wales, aiding 
transparency in an area where substantial funding is being managed by the 
Welsh Government.  Specifically, it provides Local Authority level data on CTRS 
caseload and funding implications for the six-month period May to October 2013.   

 
9. The report shows caseload across Wales in October 2013 stood at around 

318,000 and accounted for £246 million of council tax.  Caseload decreased 
month-on-month over the period May to October by 1.6%.  These figures are a 
snapshot of total caseload and cost in relation to open (live) cases at a particular 
moment in time, and do not account for closed cases.   

 
10. As of March 2014, caseload was around 316,500 and accounted for £244 million.  

However, this figure does not represent total for the year as it does not account 
for cases which have closed during the year, which we expect to exceed £2 
million.   

 
11. Around 70% of applicants are entitled to the maximum reduction in their Council 

Tax liability based on receipt of other qualifying benefits (for example, Job 
Seekers Allowance or Employment Support Allowance).   

 
12. An Annual Report on Council Tax Reduction Schemes is due to be published in 

the Summer.  This will detail total CTRS expenditure on open and closed cases 

Pack Page 56

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/counciltax/council-tax-support/council-tax-reduction-schemes-in-wales-interim-report/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/counciltax/council-tax-support/council-tax-reduction-schemes-in-wales-interim-report/?lang=en


for the year 2013-14.  It will also explore trends in caseload and funding 
implications during the first year of operation of Council Tax Reduction Schemes.   

 

Pack Page 57



Approach to the Review 

13. The purpose of the Review was to examine the options and provide and/or 
commission analysis of the impact on citizens and local authorities, and make 
recommendations for the design of an equitable and sustainable scheme within 
the funding constraints.  The review included a number of work-streams and 
tasks: 

 

 Modelling the likely future cost of CTRS, based on assumptions about future 
budgets and CT increases 

 Analysis of the nature and impact of Council Tax Reduction Schemes introduced 
by English Local Authorities, using information obtained from the Institute for 
Fiscal Studies, the National Audit Office, the New Policy Forum, the Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation, and others 

 Procurement of an application to enable the likely impacts on households of 
different options to be accurately modelled at a Local Authority and Wales wide 
level 

 Full assessment of the Equality and UNCRC impacts 

 Consultation with stakeholders, through the Task and Finish and Reference 
Groups (see below), through attendance at relevant Local Authority  and WLGA 
groups, and through a formal stakeholder consultation from December 2013 to 
March 2014 

 
14. Two Groups were established to support the work of the Review: 

 

 a Task and Finish Group chaired by the Director, Local Government, to oversee 
the delivery of the review and recommendations for the future of CTRS.  
Membership consisted of representatives of WLGA, SoLACE, Citizens Advice, 
and Local Authority benefits practitioners, along with WG officials; and  

 a Reference Group, chaired by the Deputy Director, Local Government Finance 
and Performance, to provide expert advice and support to the Task and Finish 
Group.   

 
Outcome of the review 
 
15. In conducting this review, we carefully considered the financial context, and the 

emerging evidence about the impact in England in Local Authority areas where 
entitlements have been reduced.  We modelled the impact of various options, in 
particular the implications for groups with protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act.  This analysis informed a detailed Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA), and UNCRC assessment.  We also consulted a wide range of 
stakeholders, asking for views on whether or not to maintain entitlements and the 
likely impacts of doing so, based on the various options for reducing entitlements.  
Views on the equality implications were explicitly sought.  The Task and Finish 
Group has provided support, advice and challenge throughout the review. 

 
16. The outcome is the Welsh Government has decided to continue with the 

arrangements currently in place for providing Council Tax Support through our 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes.  Full entitlement to support will be maintained 
through a single national framework scheme for at least two years from 2015-16.  

Pack Page 58



I published a Written Statement to this effect on 5 June, along with the summary 
of consultation responses, the EIA, and the UNCRC assessment. 

 
17. This decision means the Welsh Government is continuing to protect low income 

and vulnerable households, by ensuring all eligible applicants receive their full 
entitlement to Council Tax Support.  These groups are already struggling to cope 
with the impacts of welfare reform.  This will avoid the impacts being experienced 
in England, where over two million low-income households are faced with having 
to pay more of their Council Tax bill.  In England, Council Tax liability varies by 
Local Authority and a multitude of different schemes operate, however, on 
average affected households are now paying £154 a year in Council Tax.  
Council Tax debt queries recorded by Citizens Advice have increased by up to 
40% in some areas of England since the introduction of minimum Council Tax 
payments.  Research also shows in English Local Authorities which have cut 
entitlements, the number of liability orders issued by Magistrates Courts for non-
payment of Council Tax has increased by 30%.  Similar impacts would have been 
felt in Wales had entitlements been reduced.   

 
18. We intend to continue to fund Council Tax Reduction Schemes at current levels, 

whilst Local Government will need to plan for any additional financial implications 
arising from local increases in Council Tax.  This arrangement reflects the shared 
responsibility for the schemes and the fact caseloads are gradually declining.  
The Welsh Government funding replaces the Council Tax income which Local 
Authorities cannot collect from those households who qualify for a reduction. 

 
The longer term 
 
19. The decision to maintain entitlements for at least a further two years provides 

stability and certainty for both recipients of CTRS and Local Authorities.  For 
Authorities, it also avoids the administrative implications of having to collect small 
bills and pursue debt from households previously not liable for any CT and, 
therefore, not accustomed to paying it.  In the longer term, we will need to 
consider the implications of any reduction in the number of Authorities through 
mergers, as well as any impacts of the full roll-out of Universal Credit.   

 

Pack Page 59



25 June 2014 - Papers to Note 

Paper 

No: 

Issue From Action Point 

3 Holiday Caravan 

Sites (Wales) Bill, 

meeting 5 June 

2014 

Natural Resources 

Wales 

Following the evidence session 

with the Welsh Local Government 

Association and local authority 

representatives, the Committee 

agreed to request the following 

information from Natural 

Resources Wales: 

- What are Natural Resources 

Wales’ views on the requirement 

for local authorities to consult 

with Natural Resource Wales when 

considering what conditions to 

impose in a holiday caravan site 

licence (section 15 of the Bill); 

- What are the implications of 

allowing residential occupation of 

holiday caravan sites that are 

situated in areas of flood risk, and 

what steps can be taken to 

mitigate against this risk; 

- What work is being undertaken 

by Natural Resources Wales to 

improve flood awareness and 

safety at caravan sites in Wales? 

4 Holiday Caravan 

Sites (Wales) Bill, 

meeting 11 June 

2014 

British Holiday & 

Home Parks 

Association 

(BH&HPA) 

During the evidence session, the 

BH&HPA agreed to provide a note 

on the business rates paid by 

caravan parks to local authorities 

in Wales, which was included in its 

study with Visit Wales in 2011. 

5 General scrutiny 

session with the 

Minister for 

Communities and 

Tackling Poverty, 

19 June 2014 

Welsh Government The Committee requested to see 

the Welsh Government Tackling 

Poverty Action Plan following the 

Ministerial scrutiny session.   

 

Pack Page 60

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 3 

Holiday 
Caravan Sites 

www.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee  

CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 3 

 
 
National Assembly for Wales - Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill 
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) response to questions from the 
Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee via 
email, 6 June 2014. 

 
“The Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee had an oral evidence 

session with the Welsh Local Government Association and local authority representatives 

on 5 June, and it would like to enquire about the following issues that were raised in 

relation to the Bill: 

1. What are Natural Resources Wales’ views on the requirement for local authorities to 

consult with Natural Resource Wales when considering what conditions to impose in a 

holiday caravan site licence (section 15 of the Bill); 

2. What are the implications of allowing residential occupation of holiday caravan sites 

that are situated in areas of flood risk, and what steps can be taken to mitigate 

against this risk; 

3. What work is being undertaken by Natural Resources Wales to improve flood 

awareness and safety at caravan sites in Wales?” 

 
 
Question 1 – What are Natural Resources Wales' views on the requirement for 
local authorities to consult with Natural Resources Wales when considering what 
conditions to impose in a holiday caravan site licence? (Section 15 of the bill) 
 
Response: 
We would support a requirement for caravan sites located in flood risk areas to produce 
and implement a flood management/evacuation plan as well as associated warning notices 
and agree this should be secured as a condition on their licence (in line with the advice set 
out in TAN15 (Section 11.22 & appendix 6). 
 
This should be the case for all sites applying for an initial licence and those that require a 
renewal of their licence.   In the cases of renewal, a caveat to re-visit any flood 
management plans/ site notices might be useful to ensure they are up to date.   
 

Pack Page 62



 
 

Page 2 of 3 www.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk 

Following recent examples of cliff collapses during which caravans have been lost, it may 
be useful to consider a condition on the licence for a ‘buffer’ zone between the cliff edge 
and the site itself. This would be for the Local Planning Authorities (LPA) to consider. 
 
Consultation with NRW would help us secure appropriate licence condition/s, although we 
should be clear in that we are unable to help develop the flood management procedures. 
This should be done in conjunction with the Local Resilience Forum and /or the local 
authority emergency planners / emergency services.  
 
In terms of new planning applications for a caravan site, if they are located in Zone C2, 
then as ‘highly vulnerable’ developments, we would recommend that in line with TAN15, 
the LPA should refuse the application.   
 
The very nature of the caravans (instability etc.) makes them very vulnerable during a flood 
event and places both the caravan and its occupants at risk.   It may also be difficult 
depending on location etc. to operate an effective warning service.    
 
However, if the LPA confirm the site is justified and are minded to grant permission then 
we should support the inclusion of a suitable planning condition which requires the erection 
of suitable flood warning notices and the preparation of an effective warning /evacuation 
plan.     
 
For sites that sit within lower flood risk areas we would advise the erection of suitable flood 
warning notices and the preparation of an effective warning /evacuation plan. 

 

 

Question 2 – What are the implications of allowing residential occupation of 
holiday caravan sites that are situated in areas of flood risk, and what steps 
can be taken to mitigate against this risk? 
 
Response: 
The implications of allowing residential occupation of holiday caravan sites that are 
situated in areas of flood risk are; 
 

 Introduction of people into flood risk for a longer period of time, i.e. permanent 
occupation as opposed to time limited occupation.  In general terms this will 
increase the risks to people. 

 

 As noted above the very nature of the caravans (instability etc.) makes them very 
vulnerable during a flood event and places both the caravan and its occupants at 
risk 

 

 Permanent occupation by a ‘stable’ population could present the positive 
opportunity for improved and sustained local awareness and planning.  So the 
choice becomes more of an informed and prepared local population at risk all of 
the time, compared with a less informed more transient, holiday population at risk 
less of the time. 

 
In terms of mitigation (see also Q1 above); 

Pack Page 63



 
 

Page 3 of 3 www.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk 

 

 The local flood risk must be assessed and understood both in terms of the 
likelihood of flooding and the consequences of flooding. 

 

 Appropriate risk management measures (e.g. informing, warning and evacuation 
measures) would be required to manage the risks to acceptable levels. 

 

 Where the risks cannot be managed to acceptable levels residential occupation of 
the holiday sites should be avoided. 

 
 

Question 3 – What work is being undertaken by Natural Resources Wales to 
improve flood awareness and safety at caravan sites in Wales? 
 

Since January 2011, Natural Resources Wales’ Flood Awareness Wales staff have worked 
with 80 high risk camping and caravan sites across Wales. Officers worked collaboratively 
with site owners, managers and staff to raise awareness of their local risk, encourage take 
up of flood warning service (where available), discuss business disruption implications and 
complete business flood plans.  These plans were tailored to be specific to the needs of 
each site.  

 

As camping and caravan sites are businesses, flood plans were developed and promoted 
as an appendix to their existing emergency evacuation plans, rather than something 
separate. This approach increased take up and willingness to engage. To date there are 
64 completed flood plans and four are in development. 12 sites declined to take it further. 

 

We developed and made available a range of supporting materials for use by the sites. 
This includes staff training presentation templates, evacuation point signs and staff 
information signage.  

 

In addition, a guidance booklet for camping and caravan sites was produced and published 
on our website in November 2013. 

http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/alerts/whats-my-flood-risk/caravan-and-campsites-
owners/?lang=en 

Called ‘Flooding – minimising the risk in Wales’, this is the output from the Camping and 
Caravan Emergency Flood Planning Group – a national project between Welsh 
Government and Defra and a range of umbrella organisations and partners.  

 

These resources are promoted through our website and through partners organisations 
such as Welsh Government, the Wales Flood Group and Local Resilience Fora.  This work 
on caravan and campsites is part of the wider resilience and preparedness work, which is 
led by Local Resilience Fora. 
 
 
 
19 June 2014 

Pack Page 64

http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/alerts/whats-my-flood-risk/caravan-and-campsites-owners/?lang=en
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/alerts/whats-my-flood-risk/caravan-and-campsites-owners/?lang=en


 
 
 
Christine Chapman AM 
Chair, Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee,  
National Assembly for Wales 
 
 
 
 
18 June 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Ms Chapman, 
 
During our oral evidence to the Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee on 11 
June, we undertook to provide detail on Wales’ holiday and touring parks contribution to local 
authorities through Business Rates. I was mistaken in my hope that this had been detailed in the 
economic study we undertook with VisitWales in 2011, therefore we have undertaken desk research 
to provide an estimate for the Committee’s consideration. 
 
In this we reviewed a sample of parks’ Rating Valuations and annual Business Rates paid on the 
Valuation Office Agency website, comparing this with BH&HPA’s data for pitch numbers on the 
selected parks. From this it was possible to calculate an average Business Rates payment per pitch 
for 2013/14 (which differs according to the type of pitch - whether static caravan or for touring 
caravans/tents). 
 
With an average per-pitch figure, we then multiplied this up to give an estimate for the contribution 
across all parks in Wales. The challenge here is that the estimate of the total size of the industry in 
Wales differs considerably between that reported in the Bill’s Explanatory Memorandum and the 
figures reported by the Welsh Government’s ‘Summary of Wales Bedstock Data : Situation as at 
March 2013’1. 
 
The Welsh Government Statistical Article indicates that the 2013/14 Business Rate contribution to 
the public purse from Wales’ holiday and touring parks would be in the order of £24 million. 
 
The Bill’s Explanatory Memorandum’s estimate of the scale of the industry indicates a contribution 
in the order of £17 million. 
 
I hope that the above is helpful and please let me know if further detail would be of assistance. 
 
 
 
 
Ros Pritchard 
Director General 
E: r.pritchard@bhhpa.org.uk 

1 http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/research/131011-accommodation-bedstock-march-2013-en.pdf 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 4 

Pack Page 65

mailto:r.pritchard@bhhpa.org.uk


Tackling Poverty
Action Plan

2012-2016

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 5 

Pack Page 66



Print ISBN 978 0 7504 7010 0
Digital ISBN 978 0 7504 7017 9 
© Crown copyright 2012  
WG14688

Copies are also available in Welsh.

Printed on recycled paper

Pack Page 67



Contents

Page

Foreword 1

Introduction 3

Section 1: Preventing Poverty 4

Section 2: Helping People out of Poverty 13

Section 3: Action to Mitigate the Impact of Poverty 19

Joining up across Government 25

Pack Page 68



1

Our Tackling Poverty Action Plan 

Foreword 

Our Commitment to social justice and equality of opportunity makes it 
essential in the current climate that we continue to drive forward tackling 
poverty by prioritising the needs of the poorest and protecting those most at
risk of poverty and exclusion. 

We do so against a challenging economic environment where prospects 
remain very uncertain and with a severe risk of weakening prospects for jobs 
across the UK and internationally. There are also clear challenges to the 
Welsh and UK labour markets associated with the UK Government’s 
programme of fiscal austerity. In this context the welfare and benefits reforms 
introduced by the UK Government threaten to drive many of the most 
vulnerable members of our society into severe poverty and to undermine our 
efforts to reduce poverty overall. Rural areas can also experience higher rates 
of poverty. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation estimates that it costs 10-20 per 
cent more to achieve a basic adequate standard of living in rural areas than 
urban areas mostly because of increased transport and heating costs.

We cannot do everything that needs to be done but we will do all we can and 
we will do it well. We will do it not just because it is right, though a life free 
from poverty is indeed a civil right, but because it makes financial and 
economic sense. Poverty results in poorer educational, health and 
behavioural outcomes for individuals. Poverty imposes enormous costs on 
society from lower economic productivity, reduced social cohesion and
increased demands on public services such as health care and children’s 
services. The lower level of skills; poor health and poverty of ambition that 
deprivation brings with it are a brake on the potential of the Welsh economy. 

Sustainable development lies at the heart of the Welsh Government’s agenda 
for Wales. This means that when faced with hard choices we choose the 
option that works best for the long term, such as investing in better early 
education and support for families now to prevent social hardship later; or 
helping Welsh citizens and businesses to use energy more efficiently to 
prepare for future price rises. We need to make sure that we design and build 
organisations, infrastructure and public services which will serve us for the
long term, which are accessible to everyone, and are affordable to run and 
maintain. This plan sets out how we are balancing the need to tackle the 
impacts of poverty now, with the need to tackle the issues which will cause 
people to be in poverty in the future.

Our Tackling Poverty Plan and our Strategic Equality Plan will work together 
to achieve better outcomes for everyone in Wales. Our Tackling Poverty 
actions will supplement the delivery of our statutory Child Poverty Strategy
and build on complementary strategies such as the Fuel Poverty Strategy.

Pack Page 69



2

Given that many of the factors that influence poverty directly and immediately 
are outside our control, it is even more important that we optimise what we 
can do and that we can measure the outcomes of those actions. The 
effectiveness of our actions will depend on our capacity to do things differently 
and to maximise the impact of what we do by being more focused and joined 
up across departments and with our partners.

The challenges are not ones that Government can meet on its own. We will 
now engage even more closely across all sectors to take forward and develop 
the actions in this plan. We will refresh and report progress on the plan in 12 
months.

We do not accept that a general increase in the wealth of society will 
inevitably “trickle down” to individuals and communities in poverty. There are 
multiple barriers that prevent people from fulfilling their potential and we must 
tackle these across our portfolios. We must demonstrate that we direct our 
efforts to the people and places where they will have the greatest impact.  

This is not about putting a sticking plaster of additional actions on top 
of existing programmes. It is about tackling poverty through everything 
we do.

Carl Sargeant AM       Gwenda Thomas AM
Minister for Local Government and Deputy Minister for Children
Communities and Social Services

Pack Page 70



3

Introduction 

In keeping with our commitment to long-term well being the key objectives of 
our Tackling Poverty actions are:

 to prevent poverty, especially through investment in giving children 
the best possible start in life. From conception through to early 
adulthood, our aim will be to reduce inequality at the earliest possible 
stage and break the link between socio-economic disadvantage, 
educational under achievement and the impaired life chances that flow 
from these;

 recognising that the best route out of poverty is through employment, 
we will continue to help people to improve their skills and enhance 
the relevance of their qualifications. We will also remove other 
barriers to employment – from practical barriers such as the 
accessibility of transport and buildings to less tangible barriers such as 
poverty of aspiration - helping people to move on to and up the 
employment ladder;

 at the same time, we will increase action to mitigate the impact of 
poverty here and now. We recognise that for more and more people, 
even being in work will not guarantee that they can escape poverty.  
We can act to improve the quality of life of these communities, families 
and individuals.  

Action in these areas must be taken forward in ways which are mutually 
reinforcing. Good quality, affordable childcare should help children to reach 
important developmental milestones: at the same time it will create 
employment for some and remove a barrier to employment for others. Early, 
targeted action to prevent young people from falling out of education, training 
or employment should benefit them directly but should also benefit the next 
generation. Advice which helps people deal with debt, or get on-line, should 
be a basis for enabling them to manage their finances sustainably and use 
new skills to increase their engagement in work and society.

For each of these three objectives, this plan gives examples of what the 
Welsh Government has put in place previously, illustrating a long standing 
“track record” of commitment to social justice and equality; what this 
Government is already doing to tackle poverty; and what we will now do in 
addition, to place an even greater priority on action that will have a positive 
impact for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged.

Pack Page 71



4

Section 1: Preventing poverty and making it less likely 
over the longer-term 

The early years are a critical time for children’s physical, cognitive, language 
and social and emotional development. Research is also beginning to show 
that what happens to children in the early years can have physiological effects 
that are lasting. Poverty begins to exert its effects from a young age; by age 5 
children from the most economically advantaged groups have been found to 
be more than a year ahead in vocabulary tests compared to those from 
disadvantaged backgrounds. 

If we are to make a difference in the longer term outcomes for children and 
families in poverty, we must offer support earlier and sustain that support until 
families become resilient and self-sufficient. Low income and debt makes 
family life more difficult and it becomes harder to manage stressful events. 
Families in poverty require different levels of support. Families with complex 
problems, for example substance misuse, need more intensive and acute 
services. 

Education has a fundamental role in helping to lift people out of poverty and in 
protecting those at risk of poverty and disadvantage. There is a strong link 
between poor educational attainment, low skills and poor health and 
wellbeing. As a Government we are committed to tackling poverty by raising 
aspirations; improving standards in education; increasing skill levels and 
reducing inequalities in health and wellbeing.  

In addition to specific funding programmes and grants, such as those 
mentioned below, approaches that combine whole school improvement with 
specific pupil-level interventions will be necessary to ensure that schools 
improve overall and that attainment gaps narrow.

Our track record

 The Welsh Government has based its approach to child poverty on the 
rights of children and young people in accordance with the Rights of 
Children and Young Person’s (Wales) Measure 2011, recognising that 
tackling poverty is as much about improving children’s wellbeing as it is 
addressing income poverty. The Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010 placed duties on public bodies to ensure the right to 
play and the right to participate for children and young people.

 The Welsh Government is committed to providing Free Breakfasts to 
all primary school age children in maintained schools in Wales. This is 
to help improve the health and concentration of pupils, and to assist in 
the raising of standards of learning and attainment. This provision is of 
particular importance to children in poverty who are at particular risk of 
their ability to learn being adversely affected by inadequate nutrition.

Pack Page 72



5

 Most of the funding for schools goes through the Revenue Support 
Grant to local authorities, which is calculated using a formula that 
includes a deprivation measure - that means more funding for local 
authorities and schools in poorer areas. Last year, the Higher 
Education Founding Council for Wales, who already have demanding 
targets to widen access to higher education amongst deprived 
communities, rejected Welsh universities’ initial tuition (student) fees 
plans because they were insufficiently ambitious in meeting our 
widening access ambitions. Tackling disadvantage is deeply ingrained 
throughout our spending patterns and interventions.

 The Educational Maintenance Allowance Scheme has been continued.
The aim of the Allowance is to address the link between low income 
and low participation by providing a financial incentive to young people 
aged 16 - 18 years from low-income households to remain in full-time 
education beyond compulsory education. 

What we are doing now

Early years 

 We know that interventions to support children in the early years are 
highly effective in tackling the effects of deprivation on educational 
attainment. That is why we are investing significantly in the 
Foundation Phase – a developmental curriculum for 3-7 year olds, 
which is now fully implemented throughout Wales. The Foundation 
Phase encourages children to be creative, imaginative and to have fun, 
and makes learning more enjoyable and more effective. The 
Foundation Phase is based on the principle that early years' provision 
should offer a sound foundation for future learning through a 
developmentally appropriate curriculum.

 The Foundation Phase is a universal entitlement; by engaging young 
children in learning, whatever their background, circumstances and 
particular needs, we aim to ensure all children are given the best 
possible start and the confidence to develop their full potential. 

 The Foundation Phase builds on the Flying Start Programme, which 
is targeted on children in the most deprived areas. Flying Start provides 
free quality part-time childcare for 2-3 year olds; an enhanced Health 
Visiting service (where the Health Visitor caseload is capped at 110 
children); access to Parenting Programmes; and access to Language 
and Play sessions. These are universally available to all children aged 
0-3 and their families in the areas in which it runs.

Pack Page 73



6

Early support for children and families

 Families First aims to spur improvement in local systems of support 
for families, particularly those living in poverty. It requires local 
authorities to improve and innovate in relation to support for children 
and families and more appropriately tailor services to local need. To 
underpin its delivery more effective multi-agency working and 
integrated services are needed to provide holistic support to children 
and families across the levels of need, but with a strong emphasis on 
early support and prevention. All local authorities have received 
additional funding in this financial year, and will in 2013/14, to deliver at 
a local level the Families First programme, including its focus on 
families with disabled children and/or young people. Up to £87m has 
been allocated to Families First from 2012-2014.

 Families with complex problems such as substance misuse will need 
more intensive and acute services. The Integrated Family Support 
Service will target such families and multidisciplinary teams will work 
earlier and intensely with children and families to affect change. The 
support includes debt management; housing (to minimise eviction and 
homelessness) and return to work training and better engagement with 
key health and education services. From Spring 2012, Integrated 
Family Support Services will be available in 10 local authority areas
and the programme will be available across all of Wales by 2013. The 
services will support over 5,500 looked after children and care leavers 
to improve life chances and maximise wellbeing. They will aim to do 
this by providing stability, building resilience and will promote and 
encourage them to achieve through education, training and 
employment towards independent living. These services will be 
supported by early intervention programmes such as Flying Start and 
Families First.

 We placed a duty on local authorities to work with local statutory, 
voluntary and community bodies to ensure that, as far as is practicable, 
there is flexible, and sufficient childcare available locally to support 
parents. Funding is provided via the Local Authority Revenue Support 
Grant to support this, and in addition, we provide a grant of £2.3m per 
annum to local authorities to help in developing out of school childcare, 
and in particular after school provision. 

 Play is central to the physical and social development of children and 
can help to contribute to longer term improvements in both health and 
educational outcomes. This year we will commence the duty on Local 
Authorities to assess and secure sufficient play opportunities for 
children in their areas, and support them in doing so.

 The Welsh Government has developed and adopted National 
Standards for Participation, for all providers of services to children and 
young people. Local authorities and key delivery partners are required 
to produce a Local Participation Strategy, so that children and young 

Pack Page 74



7

people have opportunities to have their views heard and to be involved 
in decisions that affect their lives at the local level.

 Fairer Outcomes for All is the Welsh Government’s strategic action 
plan for reducing inequities in health. In response to this, all Local 
Health Boards are required to identify, and take action to address, 
inequities within their areas. By 2020, we aim to improve healthy life 
expectancy for everyone and to close the gaps in health inequities 
between social groups from the most to the least deprived.

 We will make extra effort to bring families into contact with GPs and 
extend GP hours linking them to a range of services. The process of 
developing ‘localities’ will strengthen the population focus of general 
practice, better interpreting the needs of those communities and 
matching resources to need. A new annual reporting system will help 
Local Health Boards to identify and act upon variation in service 
provision and performance. 

 The Designed to Smile, service specifically targets inequalities in oral 
health. The scheme aims to prevent children’s teeth decaying and 
leading to dental loss and disfiguration that in adulthood can have a 
detrimental effect on employment prospects. The Welsh Government 
will shortly be issuing for consultation our national oral health plan 
which strengthens our practical actions to combat tooth decay. 

 We will also use school nurses to reduce inequality in the uptake of 
certain sorts of immunisation by teenagers. We are taking action to 
more rapidly reduce road traffic accident-related child death and injury 
in lower socioeconomic groups. We also provide parents with 
resources through Flying Start to enable them to reduce accidents and 
injuries in the home. 

 Teenage pregnancy is often associated with poor health and social 
outcomes for both the mother and the child. Young mothers are more 
likely to suffer postnatal depression and less likely to complete their 
education. Children born to teenage parents are less likely to be 
breastfed, more likely to live in poverty and more likely to become a 
teenage parent themselves. Public Health Wales working with Local 
Health Boards are taking action to reduce teenage conception rates. 
This includes offering long acting removable contraception to specific 
teenagers. 

 We will report on teenage conception rates, low birth weight and dental 
caries at age 5 and 12. 

 Early support is important for individuals at all ages. The 
implementation of the Mental Health Measure will play a key role in 
strengthening services in the community and improving links with 
specialist services. This will be particularly relevant in providing support 

Pack Page 75



8

for patients with mental health issues related to financial or redundancy 
issues. 

 The new mental health strategy, Together for Mental Health, aims to 
eliminate inequalities in access and to ensure those most vulnerable 
service users themselves are heard and acknowledged. Outcome 
measures and indicators are currently being developed for the strategy. 

Narrowing education attainment gaps 

The Welsh Government’s overall reforms to raise school standards play a key 
role in reducing the impact of poverty on educational attainment. By raising 
the performance of all schools, and by reducing the variations found between 
and within schools, standards of learning will increase for all learners, and 
those from deprived backgrounds will benefit most. This, in turn, will equip 
young people and adults to reach their potential and secure sustainable 
employment. Secondary school banding has helped us identify which schools 
need support, and enabled the consortia to differentiate the support available 
for schools in specific circumstances. 

 All four regional education consortia have action plans in place for all 
schools in bands four and five. These action plans include a practical 
focus on steps towards improvement, with financial support from the 
Welsh Government of £10,000 to support individual action plans.

 Good literacy and numeracy skills are essential to improving standards 
in education. The National Literacy Programme for Wales sets out the 
actions that will be taken by the Welsh Government and our partners to 
achieve a step-change in standards of literacy over the next five years.  

 Amongst the key initiatives in the Literacy Programme are targeted 
support for pupils; support for teachers’ professional development; the 
sharing and consistent use of best practice; a statutory National 
Literacy and Numeracy framework; and development of national 
reading tests. Our National Numeracy Programme will be published in 
the Autumn.

 We also recognise that as children and young people move through the 
school system, they will have a variety of needs and preferences. Our 
14-19 Learning Pathways policy has been developed to ensure that all 
learners have access to a wider choice of general and vocational 
courses at both Key Stage 4 and Post-16. It also secures an 
entitlement to support learners to overcome any barriers to their 
learning or to remaining engaged in learning.  

 In the short term, the Pupil Deprivation Grant is a key opportunity for 
schools to invest in effective approaches for tackling the impact of 
deprivation. Under the Pupil Deprivation Grant and the School 
Effectiveness Grant, there is an additional investment of some £58 
million going to schools and local authorities in 2012-13 and a further 

Pack Page 76



9

£68million in 2013-14 and 2014-15 respectively. Our guidance 
for schools strongly encourages schools in areas of high socio-
economic disadvantage to link and work closely with the Communities 
First Programme, to maximise the resources available for initiatives to 
raise school standards and narrow the educational attainment gap.

 For those choosing to continue their studies at a higher level, the 
Welsh Government believes that access to Higher Education should be 
based on the ability to learn rather than the ability to pay. Our student 
support package and requirements for tuition fee plans are designed to 
remove financial barriers and to encourage applications to Higher 
Education from disadvantaged groups. Widening access to Higher 
Education is a fundamental aim of For Our Future and a core aspect 
of the Welsh Government’s drive for social justice.

 The Assembly Learning Grant for Further Education is a means 
tested grant aimed at adults aged 19 years and over to help with the 
cost of continuing with, or returning to, further education. There are 
levels of support based on a household income threshold of £18,370. 
Eligible students can receive payments of up to £1,500 if they are 
studying full-time and up to £750 if they are studying part-time. 

We know that very often it will be the same young people we need to 
target in order to narrow the attainment gap between pupils from deprived 
backgrounds and their peers who will require support because they are at 
risk of disengaging from education, employment and training. Our 
approach to reducing the number of 16-24 year old disengaged young 
people in Wales is set out in pages 14—17 below.  

What we will do in addition

 An extra £55 million has been allocated to support the expansion of 
Flying Start over the three financial years 2012-13, 2013-14 and 2014-
15, to double the number of children benefitting during this term of 
Government. 

 We will target the expansion of Flying Start on concentrations of 
families with children aged 0-3 living in Income Benefit households
across Wales. As detailed in the Strategic Equality Plan, the Flying 
Start Team will work with stakeholders to implement new systems to 
report on take-up of elements of the programme by some of the 
“hardest to reach” groups including ethnic minority families. This 
guidance will also include a requirement on local authorities to identify 
how they will address those needs.

 We will forge stronger links between programmes, for example 
between Flying Start and the Foundation Phase and between Families 
First and Communities First.  We will work to ensure that 
Communities First links effectively with education and health bodies to 

Pack Page 77



10

increase the reach and impact of mainstream education and health 
funding in our most deprived communities. Following consultation in 
2011, Communities First has been relaunched (from April 2012) as a 
Community Focused Tackling Poverty Programme which will continue 
to support and encourage local action to address the long-term causes 
and effects of poverty in the most deprived areas in Wales. There will 
be fewer, larger Communities First areas (known as Clusters) so that 
effective partnership working with key service providers and other 
strategic stakeholders will be simplified. A new monitoring framework, 
based on Results Based Accountability, will demonstrate the 
contribution made by the programme to three key outcomes: 
Prosperous Communities, Learning Communities and Healthier 
Communities.

Team around the family

We are already committed to delivering multi-agency support for families 
who need it, tailored to the particular issues they face and putting families, 
and not the services involved, at the very centre of Teams Around the 
Family. We will do this through our Families First and Integrated Family 
Support Teams, ensuring the support of the social services, health 
services, education, justice and the Third Sector. The indications are that a 
whole family approach, with a strong emphasis on preventative and early 
support, will be both more effective and more cost effective in achieving 
better outcomes; but it involves a step change in the approach of the 
Welsh Government and other service providers. A cross-Government 
group supporting the Deputy Minister for Social Services and Children will 
take this forward. Actions will include:

 A three-year evaluation contract of Families First will be awarded 
this summer. The independent evaluation team will report annually 
on the progress of Team Around the Family approaches being 
developed and implemented at local level as a key component of 
the Families First programme. (The approaches to Team around 
the Family are underpinned by the five-year Families First plans 
submitted this year by Local Authorities.) The Families First team is 
also establishing national ‘Learning Sets’, including one for Team 
around the Family approaches, with Local Authorities and partners 
in July this year. Learning Sets will provide structured opportunities 
to share learning around the development and implementation of 
key elements of Families First. These will be supplemented by case 
studies and reports on the Families First website. 

 We will work with the Public Service Leadership Group to provide 
leadership at local and regional level for the development of 
approaches which join up services around the needs of the 
individual and the family. We will also support more organisations to 
make the financial case for adopting integrated “team around the 
family” approaches. We will establish by mid-2013 outline 
characteristics for the various Families First Team around the 

Pack Page 78



11

Family interventions. By mid-2014, we will develop a set of national 
standards based on the evaluation evidence.

 The actions identified in Sustainable Social Services will remove 
unhelpful boundaries between adult and children’s social services. This 
will deliver a programme of transformation in the delivery of social 
services, to meet the needs of our most vulnerable and disadvantaged 
people.

Educational attainment

 The School Standards and Organisation Bill will ensure that primary 
school free breakfasts are available in all maintained schools unless 
the Local Authority cannot reasonably achieve this. 

 There is strong evidence that particular groups are under-achieving 
and this includes disabled children, boys and certain ethnic minority 
groups including Pakistani, Bangladeshi, African Caribbean and Gypsy 
Traveller children and young people. Within the Strategic Equality Plan  
there are detailed actions to address this: 

 We will improve the outcomes for disabled children and young 
people and those with Special Educational Needs through the 
reform of the Additional Learning Needs statutory framework.

 We will analyse information and identify issues where 
interventions are needed to drive up attainment amongst those 
ethnic minority groups who are underachieving including 
patterns of school exclusions. 

Childcare

Access to affordable childcare that is of a quality that ensures that the 
developmental outcomes for the child are improved is also central to 
supporting parents back to work. Successive reports have highlighted that this 
is still one the biggest barriers to people in poverty who are looking to enter 
the workplace. Access to high quality affordable childcare has therefore been 
identified by Ministers as a key priority for tackling poverty.  

We will examine ways of increasing the availability of affordable, quality 
childcare, building on statutory local authority assessments of need and 
engaging with the private sector, social enterprises, professional bodies and 
others. A cross - Welsh Government group has already begun looking at how 
we can integrate childcare provision across Early Years from pre-birth to 7 
years, including Flying Start and Foundation Phase. This work will be 
extended to further cooperation to develop an integrated approach to services 
and 'wrap-around' care outside of core school hours for children from 8-16, 
including Out of School Childcare Grant and free school breakfasts. We will:  

Pack Page 79



12

 undertake a more detailed analysis of the most recent Childcare 
Sufficiency Assessments and further develop the cross departmental 
work around early years to encompass the priority of affordable 
childcare, in the context of reducing levels of poverty;

 undertake an analysis of the financial assistance currently available to 
parents through local and Jobcentre plus programmes;

 establish where there are gaps in childcare provision and make early 
recommendations on how the supply of childcare can be stimulated 
and supported;

 explore where key programmes can be used to maximise the ability for 
parents to access childcare support, including the role of local Family 
Information Services;

 make initial recommendations on the type of support that we could 
provide parents; indicative costs and potential models for delivery. 

Pack Page 80



13

Section 2: Helping people to take up job opportunities 
and earn an income

Growth and sustainable jobs are at the heart of the Programme for 
Government and jobs and the economy are the Welsh Government’s over-
riding priorities. Employment offers a high level of protection against poverty 
for individuals and families. There is a strong correlation between 
qualifications and skills, employment and earnings. One of our objectives in 
the Strategic Equality Plan will be to work with partners to identify and 
address the causes of the gender, ethnicity and disability pay and 
employment differences. 

Our track record

 Over the six years to 2010, Wales made great strides in improving 
qualification levels in Wales and the overall skills mix. The proportion of 
the working-age population with a degree or higher qualification rose 
by 5.2 percentage points, whilst the proportion with no qualifications fell 
by 4.9 percentage points. 

 There have been improvements in apprenticeship completion rates 
(from 54% in 2006/07 to 80% in 2009/10). 

 Over the last decade the ReAct programme has established a strong 
track record for helping people back into employment. An internal 
evaluation of delivery for the period from 1 October 2008 to 31 
November 2011 shows that the proportion of participants who found 
new employment as a result of ReAct was 76%. 

 GO Wales is a graduate employability and skills programme, 
sponsored and managed by the Higher Education Funding Council For 
Wales and delivered by Higher Education institutions across Wales. 
The programme has established credibility with employers with more 
than 3,500 people so far benefitting.

 Investing European Union funding, particularly the European Social 
Fund, in actions to increase employment and tackle economic inactivity 
(30 projects with a combined value of over £280m) and to raise skills 
levels. Our European programmes also support social enterprise, 
financial inclusion and locally-led approaches to development which 
help to tackle poverty and exclusion.

What we are doing now

 The risk of poverty for children in workless families remains high, at 58 
per cent, which is considerably above the average of 22 per cent. 
Therefore, although the Welfare to Work agenda remains a matter for 
the DWP, we are determined to do what we can to boost skills, and 
create and safeguard jobs. We are working with our partners in local 

Pack Page 81



14

government, the third sector, the Work Programme Providers, 
employer bodies and the Department of Work and Pensions through 
the Joint Employment Development Board to coordinate support for the 
unemployed.

 Traineeships for 16-18 year olds and Steps to Employment for 18 plus 
support young people and adults to gain confidence, motivation, 
improve their skills and gain work experience to enable them to enter 
sustained employment.     

 Help for adults to gain basic skills has been remodelled with the launch 
of ‘Essential Skills in the Workplace’.

 Jobs Growth Wales (helping young people into employment). Jobs 
Growth Wales is a key commitment within the Welsh Government’s 
Programme for Government and will create 4,000 job opportunities 
across Wales for 16-18 year old who are not in education, employment 
or training as well as those unemployed young people, aged 18-24. 
The Programme will also provide a package of support for the 
individual from day 1 of unemployment (up until they become eligible 
for the Department of Work and Pension’s Work Programme) with the 
focus on supporting the individual to progress into sustained 
employment or where appropriate an apprenticeship. The scheme will 
offer young people work experience for a 6-month period. This will be 
paid at or above the National Minimum Wage for a minimum of 25 
hours per week. 

 We have built upon the success of the acclaimed ProAct scheme 
through Skills Growth Wales, a £30m extension (including £17m 
European Social Fund of which has now been approved and will be 
open to new applicants until 2015. This will support 200 companies, 
contributing to the creation of up to 3000 new jobs.

 Apprenticeships in Wales are open to everyone and innovations for 
learners and employers are motivating engagement. Pathways to 
Apprenticeships and the highly successful Young Recruits Programme, 
together prepare the supply of highly skilled apprentices whilst 
stimulating demand for apprenticeships from employers. The Economic 
Stimulus Pack has provided additional investment £4.23m to the Young 
Recruits Programme, offering support to employers for additional 
apprenticeship opportunities where there is a need to maintain a 
highly-skilled workforce. 

 We continue to invest in re-skilling for those facing redundancy through 
ReAct and Adapt – aligning skills of people leaving employment with 
those required by recruiting employers. 

 We will deliver a £30m Economic Growth Fund to provide the catalyst 
for growth, enabling businesses to invest in projects that will support 

Pack Page 82



15

the creation of up to 1,700 new jobs and the safeguarding of up to 
1,600.

 Requiring contractors to provide local employment and training 
opportunities as well as seeking to use local supply chains – through 
helping Welsh Government and the public sector to fully adopt the 
Welsh Government ‘community benefits’ procurement policy to all 
appropriate contracts over £2m. This will meet one of the Local 
Government Compact commitments.

 We will make efforts to strengthen the economic benefits from routine 
expenditure. National Health Service (NHS) capital spending has been 
linked to developing apprenticeships and the impact of the NHS capital 
programme on job creation is monitored closely. The NHS has been 
closely involved with the efforts to squeeze greater benefits from 
procurement, and the NHS has trialled ways of using its recruitment to 
provide training for people with relatively low skills to gain new skills 
which are transferable elsewhere in the economy.  

 We will maintain a focus on health at work to help people hold on to 
jobs and avoid becoming unemployed by providing a range of support 
and advice to individuals, employers and health professionals on 
improving health at work, reducing the impact of ill health at work; and 
encouraging early intervention to support people who become ill at 
work.

 Within our Strategic Equality Plan there is an objective to reduce the 
numbers of disengaged young people including actions tailored to 
reduce the over-representation of certain ethnic groups, care leavers 
and of disabled people among those who are disengaged. Other 
actions include monitoring traineeship / apprenticeship by ethnic 
minority and disabled young people as well as young men and young 
women. 

What we will do in addition

Working with business 

 We will review the evidence of success of recruitment and wages 
subsidies as ways to incentivise businesses to employ individuals 
disadvantaged by severe or persistent poverty and propose actions 
accordingly. 

 We will assess our business support activities to see if more can be 
done to lift people out of poverty and consider, where appropriate, 
linkages to Community First areas.

 As part of our appraisal process for grant support to business, we will 
introduce positive weightings to allow for the impact of bringing harder 

Pack Page 83



16

to reach groups back into work. We currently take into account the 
salary levels of jobs in assessing the quality of projects and allow 
enhanced cost per job limits in disadvantaged areas. We are also 
revising the appraisal process to better reflect the broader economic 
benefits of projects and to be sensitive to key factors of poverty. This 
will allow the investment process to better support individuals in severe 
or persistent poverty.

 We will review the model for supporting social enterprise; considering 
how this sector can provide social services and cultural activities to 
build capacity and skills, and actively boost the economy through 
improving the employment prospects of the economically inactive and 
workless.

 We will be expecting any business seeking support to sign up to our 
principles of Corporate Social Responsibility which includes a 
commitment to good employment practices, such as flexible working 
arrangements to encourage the creation of jobs that are accessible for 
parents and other carers.

 We will take integrated action under the next round of European 
programmes (2014-2020) to promote social inclusion and combat 
poverty. The Structural Funds and the Rural Development Programme
will need to be flexible and adaptable, but with a single-minded focus 
on delivering sustainable growth and jobs for businesses and people 
across Wales and helping people into work while under the Rural 
Development Programme there will be a further focus on rural 
employment, Small and Medium Enterprises and community renewal.

Community benefit requirements

 We will strengthen the ‘community benefits’ procurement policy and 
ensure the expenditure covered by the Welsh Infrastructure Investment 
Plan incorporates this approach. We will track the outcomes from 
adoption of the ‘community benefits’ procurement policy.  

 We will ensure that contracts for our significant investment in transport 
infrastructure and services include community benefit requirements 
that deliver local work and training opportunities for unemployed 
people. 

 With a clearer focus on tackling poverty, the importance of removing 
barriers to employment is fully recognised within the new Communities 
First programme. The programme has a stronger focus on ensuring 
that local action will benefit those who are most vulnerable in deprived 
areas, including those who are furthest from the workplace.

 We will establish an internal Working Group on employment 
opportunities from across the Welsh Government’s capital programmes 
chaired at Ministerial level. 

Pack Page 84



17

 We will consider how particular community enterprise actions and 
social enterprise activity could work to alleviate poverty, including in the 
context of other initiatives to promote growth; specifically, how social 
enterprises could be targeted to provide support services and facilities 
in Enterprise Zones, such as catering facilities and quality, affordable 
childcare.

Young people not in employment, education or training

 Taking action on the evidence as to the actions which will substantively 
reduce the number of people who are not in education, training or 
employment, we will strengthen employability skills through the 
curriculum and work with employers to increase job opportunities. We 
will refocus resource as early as possible in identifying the young 
people who most need support, tracking them through the system until 
they reach university, Further Education or sustained employment.

 Schools and local authorities together can intervene to prevent 
disengagement. Recognition and support for their Free School Meal 
pupils and Looked After Children will reinforce the need for early 
intervention as well as tackling one of the root causes of poverty for the 
future.

 We will develop an identification and tracking system that monitors 
progress of young people at risk. We will: 

 ensure through a new brokerage function that young people 
receive properly co-ordinated support through a single point of 
contact;

 track young people through the education and training system 
until they reach further or higher education or sustained 
employment;

 ensure that provision aimed at supporting young people at risk 
of disengagement is effective in providing the support they need;

 strengthen employability skills and opportunities for 
employment;

 make schools, colleges and local authorities more accountable 
for the engagement and progression of their young people.

 We will also focus careers support on those individuals who face the 
greatest barriers and are working with partners including Value Wales 
to improve the quality and relevance of work experience, a key route to 
social mobility.

 We are developing smartcards for public transport and are piloting 
schemes in Newport and Mon a Menai. When it is fully developed, this 
technology will provide the opportunity to provide different fare offers to 
specific groups, for example, targeting additional support to young 
people who are not in employment education or training, so that they 
can access employment or training.

Pack Page 85



18

Section 3: Action to mitigate the impact of poverty 
here and now

The lives of people in poverty like all lives are complex. In this current climate 
people lose their jobs, or can find only part-time employment. Others work as 
unpaid carers for other family members while many face barriers to finding 
work because of long-term health conditions and disability. It is important as a 
civilised society that we help people maintain a basic standard of well-being 
that will enable people to survive and find a route out of poverty. This support 
to improve the lived experience of poverty includes access to financial advice 
services, benefit take-up advice, support for sources of affordable credit, 
support to prevent fuel poverty, transport, affordable access to the internet, 
and the provision of inexpensive leisure, sport, and play facilities. Many 
people living in deprivation bear an additional burden in the sense of shame 
that poverty brings. It is shame that stops many families taking up their 
entitlement to free school meals for their children. It is shame that prevents 
many elderly people claiming the benefits to which they are entitled. 
Understanding and countering that feeling of shame is another of the complex
challenges that our interventions need to address.

Our track record

 With our support, over 6000 financially excluded adults have joined 
Credit Unions and gained access to financial products across Wales 
(figures covering fifteen months to December 2011).

 We have maintained universal entitlements to free prescriptions, free 
bus travel for older people, disabled people and veterans. We continue 
to fund free swimming in Wales for children and young people aged 16 
and under during all school holidays and weekends and a similar 
scheme operates for the over 60s.

 We have maintained investment in our fuel poverty and energy 
efficiency programmes. Between 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2012,
Arbed phase 1 delivered energy efficiency measures to more than 
7,500 homes throughout Wales. In 2011-12 our new fuel poverty 
programme, ‘Nest’, delivered energy improvement packages to over 
3,500 householders likely to be vulnerable to fuel poverty, and provided 
advice on saving energy and maximising income to over 14,700 
householders.  

 We have increased the supply of housing. Between 1 April 2007 and 
31 March 2011, a total of 9,091 additional affordable housing units 
were delivered across Wales which exceeded the original target set of 
6,500 for 2011. Over this period over £570 million in Social Housing 
Grant has been allocated to support affordable housing schemes in 
Wales.

Pack Page 86



19

 We placed a duty on public bodies in Wales to develop Child Poverty 
Strategies. As a result the National Museum for Wales developed a 
strategy for supporting participation in cultural activities for children, 
young people and families in poverty 2012-2015. 

What we are doing now

Advice and support services

 We are providing Citizens Advice Cymru with £2.2m per annum for 
consolidated benefit take-up and advice provision, to help people 
access the support to which they are entitled. This includes the Better 
Advice: Better Health, Council Tax and Housing Benefit take-up and 
Benefit take-up for Children with Disabilities schemes along with 
generic advice provision through Adviceline Cymru. 

 We are taking action to mitigate the impact of UK Government Welfare 
reforms through consultation and continued close work with our 
partners on Welsh successor arrangements to Council Tax Benefit and 
the discretionary Social Fund due to be devolved in April 2013.

 Through housing associations, many tenants in Wales are receiving 
support that specifically tackles poverty through helping them to 
increase their incomes or reduce their debt levels. Nearly £800,000 
was spent on this in 2010-11 by registered social landlords. 

Support with the costs of living 

 The Blue Badge Scheme enables disabled people to park close to 
services without charge. In 2010-2011 nearly 230,000 badges were in 
circulation in Wales. We have recently set out our plan for modernising 
the Scheme, extending it to children under 3 with specific medical 
conditions and seriously injured service personnel. The administration 
of a Blue Badge will in future incur no cost to applicants in Wales (in 
England local authorities may charge up to £10, and in Scotland up to 
£20). 

 We are maintaining our commitment to providing free bus travel to 
those over 60, the disabled and their companions and extended 
eligibility for the concessionary travel scheme to seriously injured war 
veterans and armed forces personnel living in Wales. 

 We will measure the number of concessionary fare journeys (broken 
down by disability / age), Bus user satisfaction ratings from the Bus 
Users Survey and the number of new blue badges issued at no cost. 

 Over 23,000 families with a low income receive weekly vouchers for 
fruit, vegetables and milk.

Pack Page 87



20

 The Community Food Co-operative Programme has a priority focus 
on areas of social, economic and rural deprivation, including 
Communities First areas. There are now over 300 Food Co-ops 
operating across the whole of Wales, serving approximately 4,500 
customers with nearly 7,000 bags of produce per week.  

 We are continuing to provide free milk for under 7s. The school milk 
scheme supports our whole school approach to improving nutrition in 
schools and encouraging children to develop good eating and drinking 
habits. The school census 2011 indicates that 109,617 pupils received 
free milk. 

 Homecare and other non-residential social services are free to older 
people and people with disabilities if they have income below a pre-
defined level. Even where their income is above this charges for these 
services are limited to £50 per week. The Social Services Fairer 
Charging -The First Steps Improvement Package, introduced in April 
2011, has provided greater consistency to the charging by local 
authorities for the provision of non-residential social services. The 
Package introduced, amongst other initiatives, a maximum weekly 
charge of £50 across any local authority in Wales for key services 
provided to a person, regardless of the hours of care or complexity in 
each individual’s circumstance. This Package has helped service users 
live as independently as possible in their own home and remain within 
their community, its financial safeguards ensured a significant 
proportion of users pay no charge at all. The Package therefore 
provides security for the most vulnerable members of society, often 
with limited disposable income. 

 The Package is being monitored during its inaugural year of 
implementation with local authorities reporting the impact of the new 
policies on their charging regimes and its benefit to service users. The 
second and final set of Monitoring Reports from local authorities are 
being analysed to asses the overall impact the Package has had on 
charging by local authorities for provision of non-residential social 
services and an assessment of the appropriateness of existing 
regulations.  

 We are committed to keeping water bills at an affordable level and for 
customers to have a choice of charging options that will reduce debt 
and protect vulnerable groups. 

Community resilience 

 Communities First will continue to help to ameliorate the effects of 
poverty by providing support and opportunities to help people address 
challenges and difficulties which affect individuals, families and
particular groups. At the same time the programme will strengthen the 
communities as a whole, by building the confidence and skills of local 

Pack Page 88



21

people and organisations and giving them a greater stake in strategic 
planning and service delivery in their own areas.

 Our Regeneration Programme currently invests in the infrastructure, 
renewal and regeneration of some of our most deprived communities, 
including a number of our seaside towns and town centres. Our 
regeneration work improves the physical environment of areas in 
partnership, through safer and better quality design, and by developing 
family friendly environments and mixed use developments. For 
example: 

 The Llwyddo’n Lleol project aims to stem the flow of young 
people’s outward migration of rural areas through a series of 
innovative activities designed to develop a culture of enterprise 
amongst young people; simultaneously developing the skills and 
confidence of the individual, whilst restoring their confidence in 
the opportunities available to both work and live within their own 
communities.  

 NW Watersports Mor a Mynydd aims to effect a positive and 
evidence based transformational culture change towards the 
Marine Industry within the communities of North Wales, allowing 
that industry to fulfil its real potential to provide sustainable local 
employment, economic growth and social vibrancy within those 
communities. To date there is a total of 17 secondary, 22 
primary schools and 12 primary school teachers involved with 
the programmes. 

 Enterprise in the Valleys strategic project was developed in 
partnership with Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council, the 
Communities Directorate and all 17 local Communities First 
partnerships. Funding was drawn from the Communities First 
outcomes fund and Regeneration Area to develop Enterprise in 
the valleys. With the aim of strengthening and broadening 
enterprise skills by developing the entrepreneurship skills of 
young people aged 11-25 across the nine valleys within the 
Western Valleys programme area.

 A one year pilot will target youth unemployment, the aim being 
to match job-seekers with employers, skills and training 
providers. Funding has been secured from the Swansea 
Regeneration Area via the Regional Learning Partnership to 
establish an e-Portal in Swansea. 

 The Welsh Government has set an ambitious target of providing 
12,500 homes during this term of Government. This is made up of 
7,500 affordable homes - 1,000 more than the previous government's 
target - and 5,000 empty homes brought back into use through the new 
empty properties initiative.

Pack Page 89



22

 Our flagship Supporting People Programme spends some £136 million 
each year helping the most vulnerable in Wales, providing essential 
support to around 50,000 people who find themselves in very difficult 
personal circumstances, enabling them to find or keep their homes.

 There is evidence that higher incidence and fear of crime in deprived 
areas has a negative impact on communities. We are funding an 
additional 500 Community Support Officers) in Wales to work in our 
most deprived communities, including in particular Communities First 
areas, to increase community safety and to reduce crime and the fear 
of crime. The Support Officers will be highly visible in their 
communities, engaging with people, providing reassurance and 
tackling anti-social behaviour.  

The Welsh Government also supports programmes to reduce substance 
abuse, youth offending and reoffending, Violence against Women and 
Domestic Abuse. 

 Living in an already deprived area or community can often compound 
issues associated with poverty and residents of deprived areas can 
experience higher levels of anti-social behaviour. We have provided 
over £15 million towards improving local environmental quality under 
the Tidy Towns initiative. With a commitment to a further £10 million 
until 2015. Tidy Towns projects have made improvements to the local 
environment, helping our communities become more resilient, with a 
better quality of life and a greater sense of well being. Tidy Towns has 
enabled Keep Wales Tidy to engage with 15,177 volunteers throughout 
Wales in April 2011 to March 2012, assisting them to take pride and 
ownership of their local area through undertaking 10,703 environmental 
improvement projects which have contributed to lasting improvements 
in their community.

What we will do in addition

Advice and support services 

 Within the Strategic Equality Plan we committed to strengthen advice, 
information and advocacy services to help people with protected 
characteristics understand and exercise their rights and make informed 
choices. In response to this, and in the light of changes to the welfare 
system and Legal Aid, we will review our support for advisory services, 
including housing, drawing together programmes from across the 
Welsh Government. Our aim will be to develop a stronger network of 
services which is capable of providing people with support on all 
aspects of financial and housing related need. We will work in tandem 
with the third and statutory sector on this. 

Pack Page 90



23

Support with the costs of living 

 We will develop successor arrangements for the Social Fund as part of
this network of support which will focus on sustainable solutions. 

 Free School Meals are an important entitlement for children and their 
families. School meals, and particularly free school meals, are a means 
of reducing health inequalities brought about by poor diet. Free school 
meals provide those families that we have identified as being in 
greatest need with additional support. School provides an ideal 
environment to convey positive messages on healthy eating and 
support them through appropriate behaviours. The UK Government's 
proposal to introduce Universal Credit from 2013 will mean the current 
criteria for identifying entitlement for free school meals will no longer 
exist. In order to continue the provision of free school meals, we will 
find an alternative way of determining entitlement that aligns with the 
Universal Credit system. We will be considering a range of potential 
options for setting new criteria for free school meals and as part of this 
work the potential impact these changes may have on those currently 
in receipt of free school meals   

 We will promote increased internet access for excluded groups. By 
2015 we aim to reduce levels of digital exclusion in Wales to people 
aged over 50 to 40%, Employed to 8%, Unemployed to 20%,
Economically inactive to 40% and Residents of social housing to 30%.

 We will publish guidance to water companies in the summer 2012 
which will enable water companies to develop social tariffs during 
2013-14. We will also work with stakeholders to evaluate the help we
provide and identify gaps in provision and link with the wider advice 
services that the Welsh Government provides. 

 We will report on the Number of Water company social tariffs 
developed in accordance with the guidance; Number of social tariffs 
approved by Ofwat; Number of households benefiting from social 
tariffs; The level of water company debt has reduced; Customer 
acceptance of proposed social tariffs; The decrease in the levels of 
people experiencing water affordability in Wales. 

 We will announce in the near future which projects will secure funding 
in the first round of the arbed phase 2 European Regional 
Development Fund Project. Phase 2 is a £45 million programme, part 
funded by the Fund through the Welsh Government, that will improve 
the energy efficiency of a minimum of 4,790 homes by the end of 2015. 

 We will report on the number of households supported through our 
Nest and arbed programmes each year. We will monitor and evaluate 
our programmes to ensure resources are targeted in the most effective 
way and that we facilitate additional investment in Wales through UK 
wide programmes. 

Pack Page 91



24

 Our environmental and sustainable development work will focus on 
delivering an integrated package of support to communities where 
there is poverty, deprivation or need for regeneration. This place based 
programme will be piloted in a small number of urban areas and will 
later broaden to rural areas.

 We will develop and apply a screening tool that will enable us to 
assess the socio-economic impact of transport policy and investment 
options and enable us to make policy and investment choices that will 
contribute to tackling poverty.

 Future Safe Routes in Communities schemes will be assessed 
according to how they contribute to tackling poverty. This requirement 
will be included in our updated guidance for the scheme which will be 
issued by end Summer 2012.

Building community resilience 

 Poverty is often linked to disability, as disabled people face both higher 
living costs and additional barriers to employment. The Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation (2011) has found that a third of low-income, 
working-age adults without dependent children are either disabled 
themselves, and/or have a disabled partner. Among those with 
dependent children, this proportion is a quarter. For all people of 
working age (and their dependent children), a disabled adult family 
member increases the risk of low income by about a half.

 We will tackle barriers and support disabled people so that they can 
live independently, and exercise choice and control in their daily lives. 
The Welsh Government is working with disabled people’s organisations 
and other partners to develop a Framework for Action on Independent 
Living to be completed by Summer 2012.  

 From this year, there will be a new approach to Regeneration. The 
consideration of areas which suffer from high levels of poverty will be 
given greater weight in future investment decisions. We will integrate 
our regeneration activity with our Communities First Programme. This 
will allow our regeneration activity to align with the priorities of our most 
deprived areas and support those people most in need. 

 In health, we will aim to reverse the so-called ‘inverse care law’ that is 
the tendency for the best services to be provided for those people in 
the least need. Core aspects will be improved: management of chronic 
conditions and in particular mental health issues. The Communities 
First programme will be a key partner with the NHS.

 We are making an additional £16 million available this year to help 
provide more homes for those who need them.

Pack Page 92



25

 The Housing Bill will include a stronger framework for prevention of 
homelessness and more comprehensive homelessness services which 
help everyone in need and the Tenancy Reform Bill will improve 
standards and tenants’ rights in the private rented sector.

 A new national programme to tackle empty homes has been launched. 
Working with local authorities, housing associations and third sector 
organisations, the programme will result in empty properties being 
used to house families in need of a home a target audience for help to 
overcome poverty, and a stable home they can afford is a key part of 
that.  

 A key commitment is to drive up the condition of the private rented 
sector in Wales which will have a direct impact on those on low 
incomes.  

 Following the Supporting People review, the administration of the 
programme will change which will mean that there are more efficient 
and cost effective services for vulnerable people in Wales ensuring 
those who most need help will get it.

Joining up in communities and across government 

We recognise that many of the successes in tackling poverty are down to the 
efforts of dedicated and enterprising individuals, starting on a small scale, in 
their local communities. The principle of community empowerment is 
fundamental to our approach. Success will depend on the collective efforts of 
those working in their communities, be they public service workers, third 
sector organisations, volunteers or businesses. Local authorities have a clear 
leadership role to play. We will rely on our partners to build on this plan by 
joining up their actions and innovating at local and regional levels.  We will 
work to support this:    

 Our work with public service leaders in Wales is driving the pace of 
public service improvement, including effective services for 
vulnerable groups. Good practice is being transferred to areas 
across Wales. 

 The public service reform agenda, including the simplification of 
plans and rationalisation of partnerships to support joined up 
delivery of local services, will support this approach.   

 The single integrated plans produced at local level will have a clear 
focus on a preventative agenda and support for people who are 
excluded or vulnerable.   

Pack Page 93



26

 We will work through existing fora such as Local Service Boards, 
Partnership Councils and the Public Service Leadership Group, to 
secure leadership and engagement at all levels.

Every part of government can contribute to tackling poverty. It is integral to 
promoting sustainable development. For example, heritage-led regeneration 
can mean that our towns are better places to live because we work with the 
grain and character of their historic origins and growth to develop them for 21st

century living. Imaginative and creative use of the monuments in State care 
for the benefit of local people and visitors can mean that heritage sites can 
play a vital and contemporary role in strengthening communities. Our National 
Transport Plan has taken impacts on equality and poverty as important factors 
in deciding priorities. Our Communities First programme will play a key role in 
promoting joined up approaches and enabling mainstream programmes to 
work to greatest effect in these communities.

One of our biggest challenges and opportunities is to make the sum of our 
actions greater than their parts by integrating them properly. We will aim to do 
this through the leadership of our Ministerial Programme Board.  

 We will assess the impact of every new policy development and every 
significant investment for its contribution to tackling poverty.  We will do 
this by applying “Delivering Results”, the Welsh Government’s system 
for testing that policies and programmes are being developed and 
implemented effectively. 

 Our independent, external expert group will advise and monitor 
progress.

 We will continue to develop ways of tracking and evaluating the impact 
of our actions.

Next year we will publish an updated plan which will track our existing and 
future activity. 

Pack Page 94


	Agenda
	2 Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill - Evidence Session 6:  Darren Millar AM
	CELG(4)-20-14 Papur 1 (Saesneg yn unig)
	CELG(4)-20-14 Papur 1a (Saesneg yn unig)

	5 General  Scrutiny Session: Minister for Local Government and Government Business
	CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 2
	CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 2a

	6 Papers to note
	CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 3
	CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 4
	CELG(4)-20-14 Paper 5




